# Case No. IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Friends of the Eel River, Californians for Alternatives to Toxics Petitioners and Appellants,

ν.

North Coast Railroad Authority, Board of Directors of North Coast Railroad Authority

Respondents.

SUPREME COURT FILED

Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company

Real Party in Interest

NOV - 7 2014

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Five Case No. A139222, A139235

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Appeal from the Marin County Superior Court, Case No. CIV11-3605, CIV11-03591

Honorable Fave D'Opal, Judge; Honorable Roy Chernus, Judge

Deputy

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ellison Folk (SBN 149232)

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Does the Interstate Commerce Commission Termination Act ("Termination Act") preempt the application of the California Environmental Quality Act to a State agency's proprietary acts with respect to a State-owned and funded rail line, as the Opinion holds, or is CEQA not preempted under the market participant doctrine, as the Third District held in *Town of Atherton v. California High-Speed Rail Authority* (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 314?
- (2) Does the Termination Act preempt a State agency's voluntary commitments to comply with CEQA as a condition of: (i) receiving State funds for a State-owned rail line, and/or (ii) leasing State-owned property?
- (3) Where a railroad is also a State agency, can the Termination Act be construed to preempt CEQA and thus nullify California's sovereign

authority to govern how its subdivisions make decisions that affect California's environment?

#### INTRODUCTION

Petitioners respectfully request review to secure uniformity of decisions and resolve an important issue of law: whether federal law can preempt CEQA's application to the State-funded repair and rehabilitation of a State-owned rail line where the agency itself has agreed to comply with CEQA. Within the past few months, two Districts of the Courts of Appeal (the First and the Third) have issued published opinions reaching directly opposite conclusions on this issue.

Petitioners brought their CEQA cases to ensure that tens of millions of dollars in State funding to reopen the Northwestern Pacific Railroad ("Rail Line") be spent in the manner directed by the State of California: that restoration and operation of the Rail Line begin only after full consideration and, to the extent feasible, mitigation of the project's significant environmental impacts. The petitions allege that Respondent North Coast Railroad Authority ("NCRA")—an agency created by the State to own and manage the Rail Line—failed to properly analyze and mitigate the environmental impacts associated with reopening a segment of the Rail Line (the "Project").

The Court of Appeal determined that the Termination Act, which deregulates the rail industry, preempted Petitioners' CEQA claims. In so

doing, the Court expressly disagreed with the Third District's recent opinion in *Atherton*, even while noting that "*Atherton* presents a situation factually and procedurally similar" to this case. *Atherton* held that, under the market participant doctrine, the Termination Act did not preempt a challenge to the High Speed Rail Authority's CEQA review for a segment of the High Speed Rail project. *Atherton* properly recognized that the State's directives for the ownership and management of State-owned rail lines, including CEQA compliance, are part of doing business as a State-owned railroad and thus do not constitute regulation preempted by the Termination Act.

NCRA's CEQA compliance is not a State regulation imposed on a private railroad's operation. Instead CEQA compliance here is an element of a public rail agency's proprietary actions in reopening a State-owned rail line. Indeed, NCRA agreed to CEQA compliance and prepared a State-funded environmental impact report ("EIR") for this State-funded project. The Opinion thus contravenes well-settled law regarding Termination Act preemption and the market participant doctrine. The Opinion also sets bad precedent by allowing a rail agency to ignore the CEQA commitments required in order to be eligible for public funds.

Equally important, the Opinion needlessly impinges on the State's sovereign authority to govern its subdivisions. At issue here are important federalism considerations regarding how to construe "federal legislation"

threatening to trench on the States' arrangements for conducting their own governments . . . ." Nixon v. Missouri Municipal League (2004) 541 U.S. 125, 140. This issue, along with the Opinion's direct conflict with Atherton, are ripe for review by this Court as CEQA challenges to public rail projects are pending throughout the State.

#### **GROUNDS FOR REVIEW**

First, the Court should grant review to "secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law" regarding the application of the market participant doctrine and related voluntary commitment jurisprudence. Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1). The First District's holding that the Termination Act preempts CEQA compliance for a State agency's proprietary actions directly conflicts with the decision of the Third District in Atherton, issued two months earlier. Atherton held that when a State agency (like NCRA) conducts CEQA review in conjunction with its management of State property (like the Rail Line), it acts as a market participant and CEQA is not preempted. Atherton is firmly rooted in U.S. Supreme Court precedent, which holds that a state's proprietary actions are not regulation and are therefore not subject to preemption. See, e.g., Building & Trade Council v. Associated Builders (1993) 507 U.S. 218, 227 ("Boston Harbor"). Nevertheless, the First District's Opinion expressly rejected the Third District's position in Atherton, holding that the market participant doctrine is inapplicable and that CEQA is preempted.

The Opinion also holds that citizens cannot use a petition for writ of mandate to enforce a public agency's voluntary commitments to comply with CEQA. By contrast, the Third District ruled that CEQA petitioners could properly raise an agency's voluntary commitments to defeat Termination Act preemption. The First District expressly acknowledged the conflict with *Atherton*, stating that "[a]lthough *Atherton* presents a situation factually and procedurally similar to the one before us, we respectfully disagree with the court's analysis . . . ." Opinion at 31.

As a result of the conflicting decisions, both State agencies and the public face significant uncertainty about whether CEQA review is required for public rail projects. This Court should resolve this conflict because the issues presented here will arise again—superior courts are currently considering a number of CEQA suits involving public rail projects. For example, at least seven pending CEQA lawsuits challenge the California High Speed Rail project, which will traverse jurisdictions within both the First and Third Districts. Without review, this single rail line will be subject to contradictory legal rules.

In addition to creating conflicts in the public rail context, the Opinion prohibits citizens from asserting the market participant doctrine as a defense to preemption. Again, by contrast, *Atherton* held that there is "no direct authority for [the] proposition that only a state entity can invoke the market participation doctrine." 228 Cal.App.4th at 340. The Opinion's

limitations on who may assert the doctrine could have significant impacts beyond the rail context on legal challenges that often face a preemption defense, including third-party challenges to actions involving state funds spent in federally regulated industries such as communications, health care, food and drugs, or energy. Absent intervention by this Court, such challenges will also be subject to conflicting results. Under the rule established in the Opinion, the state alone can argue whether the obligations it assumes are preempted. Under *Atherton*, determining whether state action is preempted is properly left to the courts.

Second, this Court should grant review to address an important issue of law concerning the scope of California's sovereign authority to govern its subdivisions, including those that operate public rail projects throughout the State. Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1). "The number, nature and duration of the powers conferred upon" State subdivisions "rests in the absolute discretion of the State." California Redevelopment Assn. v. Matosantos (2011) 53 Cal.4th 231, 254-55 (quoting Hunter v. Pittsburgh (1907) 207 U.S. 161, 178–179). The Legislature exercised this absolute discretion by requiring public agencies to conduct CEQA review before carrying out discretionary public projects and allowing the public to participate in that review through the administrative and judicial process. But the Opinion's overly-broad reading of the Termination Act's preemption clause wipes away the California's power to require its

agencies to comply with CEQA when acting as public railroads. This impinges on California's sovereign authority to govern the decision making process by which State agencies spend State funds on State-owned rail projects.

The Opinion contravenes two controlling U.S. Supreme Court cases, Gregory v. Ashcroft (1991) 501 U.S. 452 and Nixon v. Missouri Municipal League (2004) 541 U.S. 125, which establish a heightened standard of preemption review when a federal statute will interfere with the states' sovereign authority to govern their subdivisions. Both Gregory and Nixon instruct courts to construe federal statutes to preserve states' plenary control over their subdivisions absent an "unmistakably clear" statement that Congress intended to intrude on state sovereignty. Gregory, 501 U.S. at 452; Nixon, 541 U.S. at 141-42. The Supreme Court adopted this clear statement rule to "avoid a potential constitutional problem" that would arise from reading federal statutes to interfere with state sovereignty. Gregory, 501 U.S. at 464. The Opinion does not adhere to this precedent, failing to apply the statutory analysis Gregory and Nixon require.

Applying a broad view of express preemption to state governance of state agencies will yield absurd results. For example, here the Opinion expansively holds that the Termination Act "expressly preempts all state laws 'that may reasonably be said to have the effect of managing or governing rail transportation." Opinion at 34 (emphasis added; citation

omitted). But it overlooks NCRA's enabling act, which establishes NCRA's power to "govern" and "manage" the Rail Line and rail operations. Thus, under the plain language of the Opinion, NCRA's authority over its own rail project also appears to be preempted. Review is therefore warranted to determine whether the Termination Act preempts California's sovereign governance of its subdivisions.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. NCRA's Creation and Operation

The California Legislature created NCRA in 1989 to own, manage, and provide passenger and freight rail service on the Rail Line, which extends from Marin County to Humboldt Bay. AR:13:6595-96; Gov. Code §§ 93001, 93010. In part, the Legislature's purpose behind this enactment was to "provide a means to . . . pursue economic development opportunities" in the North Coast region. Gov. Code § 93001. Because of the high maintenance costs for the Rail Line, prior private operators were unable to manage it profitably. Therefore, the State established the NCRA to ensure that the line was not abandoned. See Gov. Code § 93001. NCRA owns the Rail Line from Healdsburg to its northern terminus, and it holds an easement for freight operation over the remaining southern portion of the line, which is owned by another public agency, the Sonoma Marin Area

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the Administrative Record appear as "AR:[volume]:[page]."

Rail Transit District. AR 13:6596. Between 1992 and 1998, NCRA itself operated freight service over the entire line. AR 13:6597. However, severe storms seriously damaged the line in 1998, and it was closed later that year. AR:9:4592-95.

In 2000, California began the process of reopening the Rail Line by authorizing funds for repairs, improvements, and environmental remediation under the Traffic Congestion Relief Program, a funding program established by the Traffic Congestion Relief Act. Gov. Code §§ 14556.40(a)(32), 14556.50(e), (i). Among other things, this Program requires agencies that apply for funding to "compl[y] with all legal requirements for the project, including the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act." Gov. Code § 14556.33(b)(4). The California Transportation Commission—the agency that implements the Congestion Relief Program—has also adopted guidelines requiring a funded project's "implementing agency" to comply with "the requirements of CEOA." App:9:84:2373.<sup>2</sup> Finally, NCRA's own regulations acknowledge its obligation to comply with CEQA. AR:20:10623, 10633-37 (NCRA's policy and procedures manual broadly requiring CEQA compliance "for activities within the jurisdiction of the agency").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Citations to Petitioners' Consolidated Appendix In Lieu of Clerk's Transcripts appear as "App:[volume]:[tab]:[page]."

Pursuant to the State funding authorization, in 2001, NCRA sought \$60 million from the California Transportation Commission. AR:9:4623, 4692. NCRA and the Transportation Commission entered into a "Master Agreement" that—consistent with the requirements of the Congestion Relief Program and its implementing guidelines—required NCRA to comply with CEQA as a condition of State funding. AR:9:4638. The Transportation Commission distributed the money to NCRA through a series of "Program Supplements," which incorporated the Master Agreement's terms. See, e.g., AR:13:6801. These distributions funded NCRA's work to establish an operable segment of the Rail Line and included \$2.4 million to prepare the EIR challenged in this case.

To support its effort to reopen the Rail Line, NCRA also issued a request for proposals to provide freight rail service on the line. AR 13:6593-6610. NCRA "envision[ed] a private-public partnership" whereby the public retained ownership of the Rail Line and continued to provide financial support for its repair and improvement, while a private franchisee would operate the line. AR 13:6595; Gov. Code § 93020(f). NCRA ultimately selected the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company ("NWPCo.") as its private partner, and these parties memorialized their relationship in a 2006 Lease Agreement. In signing the 2006 Lease, both

parties agreed that NCRA would comply with CEQA before railroad operations began. AR:13:6731; App:5:48a:1414.

Attempting to meet its commitments to comply with CEQA before using public funds to reopen the publicly-owned line, NCRA relied on two distinct CEQA processes: the preparation of (1) categorical exemptions for routine maintenance and repair; and (2) the EIR challenged in this case for rehabilitating the line and resuming service. In 2007, the City of Novato sued NCRA for violating CEQA when it issued a Notice of Exemption for track repair work on the Rail Line. App:5:48a:1239. NCRA and NWPCo. demurred, claiming the Termination Act preempted the city's CEQA suit. App:48a:1304-05. The Marin County Superior Court overruled the demurrer and the parties ultimately entered a Stipulated Judgment, which required NCRA to comply with CEQA for certain work on the Rail Line. AR:17:8901-02, 8911.

While it was claiming federal preemption in the Novato litigation, NCRA proceeded with preparation of the EIR at issue here. It engaged multiple agencies and the public in a four-year environmental review process, ultimately certifying its EIR and approving reopening of the Rail Line on June 20, 2011. AR:1:18-23; 7:3467.

### B. Procedural History

On July 20, 2011, Petitioners filed mandamus petitions against NCRA for failure to comply with CEQA. App:1:1:1-33, App:1:5:35-65.

NWPCo., joined by NCRA, demurred to the petitions, again arguing that the Termination Act preempted CEQA. Superior Court Judge D'Opal overruled the demurrer, holding that Respondents were judicially estopped from claiming preemption because NCRA had received funding for the Rail Line in exchange for its commitments to the Transportation Commission that it would comply with CEQA. App:7:61:1842-43, 7:65:1863-64. But after full briefing on the merits, a second judge reversed Judge D'Opal's ruling, and found that the Termination Act preempted NCRA's CEQA obligations. App:16:133:4379.

#### C. The Court of Appeal Decision

Petitioners appealed this ruling on July 8, 2013. After full briefing and argument, but before the Court of Appeal issued its Opinion, the Third District Court of Appeal decided an identical preemption issue in *Atherton*. The Third District held that under the market participant doctrine, the Termination Act does not preempt California agencies' obligation to comply with CEQA for State-owned rail projects. 228 Cal.App.4th at 341. Despite *Atherton*'s "contrary conclusion on similar facts," the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's preemption ruling and found that non-governmental plaintiffs cannot assert either the market participant or voluntary commitment doctrines to defend against preemption claims.

The Opinion also dismissed a second body of U.S. Supreme Court precedent, which holds that Congress cannot preempt states' regulation of

their subdivisions without "unmistakably clear" language in a federal statute. *Id.* at 33-35. The Opinion found the Termination Act expressly preempts CEQA without ever analyzing the Termination Act's text for the required "unmistakably clear" statement. *Id.* 

Petitioners sought rehearing of the Court of Appeal's decision on October 14, 2014. The court then issued an October 17, 2014 order that denied the rehearing petition, modified the Opinion to delete footnote 7, but did not change the judgment.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Opinion Directly Conflicts with Atherton's Holding Regarding Preemption of CEQA for Public Rail Projects.
  - A. The Termination Act Preempts Only State Regulation of Private Entities that Interferes with Rail Transportation, Not a State's Proprietary Actions.

The Termination Act "was enacted in 1995 to deregulate the rail industry by eliminating direct economic regulation of railroads by the states." *PCS Phosphate Co., Inc. v. Norfolk S. Corp.* (4th Cir. 2009) 559 F.3d 212, 219. To further its deregulatory purpose, the Termination Act contains an express preemption provision: "the remedies provided under this part *with respect to regulation of rail transportation* are exclusive and preempt the remedies provided under Federal or State law." 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b)(emphasis added). Thus, as with many federal statutes, "Congress narrowly tailored the [Termination Act] preemption provision to

displace only 'regulation,' i.e. those state laws that may reasonably be said to have the effect of 'manag[ing]' or 'govern[ing] rail transportation . . . ."

Fla. E. Coast Ry. Co. v. City of W. Palm Beach (11th Cir. 2001) 266 F.3d 1324, 1331, 1137-39 (city's application of zoning ordinances not "regulation of rail transportation" preempted by the Termination Act); see also Atherton, 228 Cal.App.4th at 330 (the Termination Act preempts only state "regulation" that results in an "interference with rail transportation").

Consequently, courts have held that the Termination Act does not preempt non-regulatory activities, including proprietary acts. See, e.g., Atherton, 228 Cal.App.4th at 337-38; PCS Phosphate, 559 F.3d at 219 (voluntary "agreements do not fall into the core of economic regulation that the [Termination Act] was intended to preempt"). These cases follow a long line of U.S. Supreme Court and federal circuit court decisions holding that the dormant Commerce Clause and various federal statutes do not preclude state proprietary acts under what is known as the "market participant doctrine." See Atherton, 228 Cal.App.4th at 334-36 (citing, among others, Hughes v. Alexandria Scrap Corp. (1976) 426 U.S. 794; Boston Harbor, 507 U.S. 218; Engine Mfrs. Assn. v. South Coast Air Quality Management Dist. (9th Cir. 2007) 498 F.3d 1031); see also, e.g., Building & Construction Trades Dept. v. Allbaugh (D.C. Cir. 2002) 295 F.3d 28; Mason & Dixon Lines Inc. v. Steudle (6th Cir. 2012) 683 F.3d 289.

At the heart of this doctrine is the recognition that state agencies, like private entities, must enter the market in a variety of ways—from managing public property, to undertaking public works projects, to buying and selling goods and services—to carry out their responsibilities. See, e.g., Boston Harbor, 507 U.S. at 227. Where such actions "essentially reflect the entity's own interest in its efficient procurement of needed goods and services, as measured by comparison with the typical behavior of private parties in similar circumstances," they are not regulatory. Cardinal Towing & Auto Repair, Inc. v. City of Bedford, Texas (5th Cir. 1999) 180 F.3d 686, 693; Atherton, 228 Cal. App. 4th at 335; see also Opinion at 27 (quoting same). Absent a clear indication of Congressional intent to the contrary, courts will not infer that federal law prevents states from directing or negotiating the terms and conditions of these proprietary interactions. Boston Harbor, 507 U.S. at 227, 231-32 ("pre-emption doctrines apply only to state regulation") (emphasis in original). Even state action that takes the form of a rule or law, or reflects environmental motives, may be proprietary and subject to the market participant doctrine if that action directs state spending decisions rather than governs private behavior. Engine Mfrs., 498 F.3d at 1048.

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