IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Friends of Eel River, Californians for Alternatives to Toxics,

Appellant,

VS.

North Coast Railroad Authority, Board of Directors of North Coast Railroad Authority,

Respondents,

Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company

Respondent and Real Party in Interest.

SUPREME COURT

DEC - 1 2014

Court of Appeal of the State of California First Appellate District, Division Five Case Nos. No.A139222, A139235

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Superior Court of the State of California, County of Marin Honorable Faye D'Opal; Honorable Roy Chernus Case Nos. CIV11-3605, CIV11-03591

JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Even if the analysis turned on NCRA's agreements, no evidence exists that the NCRA voluntarily agreed to conduct CEQA. As Appellants note, "the state requires as part of its regulatory regime that agencies receiving state funding comply with CEQA." (Petition at p. 17 [emphasis added].) That NCRA believed it had to comply with this generally applicable regime to obtain state funding does not turn CEQA compliance into a voluntary, "proprietary" action related to obtaining rail service. (See *South-Central Timber Dev., Inc. v. Wunnicke* (1984) 467 U.S. 82, 97 ["Contrary to the [Appellants'] contention, the [market participation]

doctrine is not *carte blanche* to impose any conditions that the State has the economic power to dictate, and does not validate any requirement merely because the State imposes it upon someone with whom it is in contractual privity."].)

Appellants also claim the Opinion conflicts with *Atherton* by holding that a "third party may not invoke the voluntary commitment rule as part of a writ of mandate action brought pursuant to CEQA" (Petition at p. 24). But Atherton does not stand for the proposition that anyone can enforce a voluntary commitment by a railroad to defeat preemption. Atherton never needed to reach that question because the petitioners there, as California voters, were parties to the voluntary agreement of Proposition 1A. The STB decision Atherton relied to find the HRSA made a voluntary commitment enforceable by state voters, however, suggests that only parties to the agreement can sue to enforce it. (See Atherton, supra, 228 Cal.App.4th at pp. 339, quoting Joint Petition for Declaratory Order—Boston and Main Corp. and Town of Ayer, MA (STB, Apr. 30 2001, No. 33971) 2001 STB WL 458685, at p. *5 ("Boston and Main Corp.") ["[A] town may seek court enforcement of voluntary agreements that the town had entered into with a railroad, notwithstanding section 10501(b), because the preemption provisions should not be used to shield the carrier from its own commitments." (Emphasis added.)].)

The Opinion's conclusion that only parties with standing to enforce

a contract can in fact enforce it is consistent with the STB case *Atherton* cited. (See Slip Op. at p. 32.) Fundamental to the Opinion's holding is Appellants' failure to plead a contract claim that might have supported their argument they were enforcing a contract as opposed to acting in a regulatory capacity as private attorneys' general. (*Id.* at p. 24.) Instead, Appellants openly asserted they were acting in a traditionally regulatory fashion as typical CEQA petitioners, seeking to enforce CEQA on behalf of the public, until they needed to pivot to a contract theory to invoke an exception to preemption. (*Id.*) As discussed further below, the failure to plead a contract was fatal to their contract-based claim to avoid preemption. The issue of pleading a contract claim was not addressed in *Atherton*, so the cases do not conflict on that point.

In short, the cases do not directly contradict each other on the legal principles of the market participation doctrine or the voluntary commitment exception to preemption.

3. The Opinion And Atherton's Differences Regarding Standing
To Raise the Market Participation Doctrine Stem Primarily
From Factual Not Legal Distinctions

As Appellants note (Petition at pp. 18–19), *Atherton* and the Opinion differ in their answer to the question whether public interest groups have standing to use the market participation doctrine to enforce state compliance with CEQA for rail activities governed by the ICCTA. The differing conclusions are explainable by looking at the different facts of

each case and therefore, although the Opinion is rightfully critical of Atherton's analysis, the cases can be harmonized, eliminating the need for Supreme Court review.

The Opinion itself offers the roadmap to harmonization:

Atherton suggests the bond measure funding the [high-speed train] was akin to a contractual agreement between the public entity and the electorate [citation]. Assuming a member of the electorate could bring a breach of contract claim based on an entity's failure to comply with a bond measure under the circumstances of Atherton [citation], NCRA's alleged "voluntary" agreement to comply with CEQA arises from its contract with the state, not from its acceptance of funds from a bond measure. As we have previously explained, petitioners do not have standing to enforce that contract.

(Slip Op. at p. 32.) Thus, even if NCRA and NWPCo had agreed that NCRA would conduct environmental review of NWPCo's rail operations or NCRA had agreed to environmental review in exchange for obtaining funds from the CTC, those agreements are not with the public and would not allow an enforcement action by public interest groups. The difference between a bilateral contract and an agreement with entire electorate of the state explains the differing results in *Atherton* and the Opinion, and provides a way for *Atherton* to be limited and the cases to be harmonized.

None of Appellants' arguments demonstrate an irreconcilable conflict in the cases' standing analysis.

Contrary to Appellants' first claim, the Opinion does not directly contradict *Atherton* by holding "only an agency may invoke the market

participant doctrine." (Petition at pp. 19, 27.) Although the Opinion notes that the market participation doctrine has generally been used by states to defend against claims of federal preemption, the Opinion does not bar a non-state party from raising the doctrine. Instead, the Opinion finds that "the market participation doctrine may not be used to avoid federal preemption by the ICCTA in this case" by public interest appellants seeking to enforce a state regulation. (Slip Op. at p. 30 [emphasis added].) Had the facts been different—for example, there was no private railroad involved, petitioners had actually pled a contract and sought to enforce contractual rights, and the contract alleged included petitioners as third party beneficiaries empowered to enforce it—the Opinion may have reached the same conclusion as *Atherton*. (See Slip Op. at p. 32; see also Atherton, supra, 228 Cal. App. 4th at p. 323 [finding the applicability of the market participation doctrine is based on "the specific circumstances" there].)

Appellants next claim the Opinion directly conflicts with *Atherton* because the two cases interpret a series of lawsuits about state contracts with DHL Express differently (the "*Grupp* cases"). (Petition at pp. 20–21.) Neither case relies exclusively on its analysis of the *Grupp* cases to reach its conclusion, however, which makes their differing thoughts on those cases dicta and not important enough to warrant Supreme Court review. (See generally *Hubbard v. Superior Court* (1997) 66 Cal.App.4th 1163,

1168 [explaining dicta]).) Moreover, *Atherton*'s finding regarding the *Grupp* cases was based on facts not present in the Opinion. Specifically, *Atherton* found the *Grupp* cases distinguishable because "[w]hile plaintiffs in the Grupp cases sought to regulate the behavior of a third party, DHL, the remedy sought here would apply only to . . . the state's own behavior," which was circumscribed by its promise to the voters. (228 Cal.App.4th at p. 341.) Had *Atherton* concerned a remedy that would apply to a private rail operator, like this case, it may also have concluded that the facts at hand were "akin" to the *Grupp* cases and found them instructive as to who has standing to raise the market participation doctrine. (Slip Op. at p. 30.)

Finally, Appellants claim the Opinion directly conflicts with *Atherton*'s observation that since the petitioners there had standing to bring suits to enforce CEQA, they also have standing to raise the market participation doctrine as part of a CEQA challenge. (Petition at pp. 24–25.) At first blush, *Atherton* and the Opinion appear to conflict, as the Opinion finds that Appellants lack standing to raise the market participation doctrine as part of their CEQA challenge. (Slip Op. at p. 30.) But *Atherton*'s conclusion stems from the HSRA's voluntary agreement with the public to be regulated by CEQA, including CEQA's public interest standing provision. (228 Cal.App.4th at pp. 339–340.) *Atherton* never addressed whether parties would have standing to assert CEQA claims against an entity who did not voluntarily agree to regulation by those parties. As

Atherton notes, "[i]t is axiomatic that cases are not authority for propositions not considered." (*Id.* at p. 337 [internal quotation marks and citation omitted].) Accordingly, *Atherton* is not authority for the proposition that non-parties to an agreement can rely on CEQA's public interest standing to assert the market participation doctrine and thus does not directly conflict with the Opinion's conclusion. (Slip Op. at p. 30.)

Because the Opinion, unlike *Atherton*, had to address the standing issue for non-parties to an alleged contract, the Opinion includes an important discussion of pleading standards. The Opinion explains that while Appellants seek to apply a contract-enforcement exception to preemption, they never pled a breach of contract theory. (Slip Op. at 24 ["No such claim has been asserted by petitioners, who have not even alleged the existence of a contractual agreement by NCRA to prepare an EIR."].) As the Opinion points out, this is not just theoretical or "semantics," rather, the absence of contract allegations prevents Appellants from pretending to be enforcing a contract as opposed to invoking CEQA as a regulation. (Slip Op. at 25 ["[T]he only way [Appellants] can proceed is via an action to enforce that contract. [Appellants] have not brought an action to enforce the contract."].) This foundational pleading issue is central to the Opinion's conclusion, but it was not addressed in *Atherton*, so while there may be a hole in Atherton's analysis, there is no conflict between the decisions.

Rather than address the factual differences between *Atherton* and the Opinion, Appellants attempt to discredit the Opinion's standing analysis by claiming it undermines the market participation doctrine. (Petition at p. 19.) Not so. As the federal cases cited by both *Atherton* (228 Cal.App.4th at pp. 334–336) and the Opinion (Slip Op. at pp. 26–29) "make clear, the market participation doctrine gives governmental entities the freedom to engage in conduct that would be allowed to private market participants" (*Id.* at p. 29; see *Atherton*, *supra*, 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 334.) Both cases acknowledge that a foundational principle in the market participation doctrine is "evenhandedness" in the treatment of market participants, whether state or private entities. (*Atherton*, *supra*, at p. 334; Slip Op. at p. 26.)

The Opinion's holding is consistent with the foundational principle articulated in *Atherton*. As the Opinion notes, absent a contract with a private citizen's group, "[a] private railroad that conducted a voluntary environmental review as part of a project would not be subjected to a challenge to that review by a private citizen's group" relying on public interest standing, and therefore neither should the state if it is acting as a market participant rather than regulator. (Slip Op. at p. 29.) Indeed, Appellants' own argument that a state can grant citizens a right to enforce its regulations, as it did with CEQA (Petition at p. 20), highlights the regulatory nature of CEQA and belies a claim that in this case CEQA is "so

narrowly focused, and so in keeping with the ordinary behavior of private parties, that a regulatory impulse can be safely ruled out."

In short, despite similarities (*Atherton* and the Opinion are both about rail, CEQA, and the ICCTA), the factual differences discussed above resulted in the Opinion reaching a different conclusion regarding a citizen group's ability to assert the market participation doctrine to defeat preemption. Because the conflicting holdings stem primarily from factual rather than irreconcilable legal differences, the cases can be harmonized without Supreme Court review. And because *Atherton* and the Opinion can be harmonized, the hypothetical parade of horribles cited by Appellants (Petition at pp. 25–27) will not occur.

B. The Opinion Does Not Raise An Issue Regarding Federal Interference In A State's Self-Governance

Contrary to Appellants' claim (Petition at pp. 12–13, 27–34), the Opinion does not conflict with the holdings of *Gregory v. Ashcroft* (1991) 501 U.S. 452, 467 or *Nixon v. Missouri Municipal League* (2004) 541 U.S. 125, 140–141, which require a federal statute altering the usual constitutional balance between the states and the federal government to have "unmistakably clear" language of that intent, for at least three reasons.

First, the Opinion does not concern California's control over its subdivisions, but instead concerns California's ability to regulate NWPCo's

rail operations. (Slip Op. at p. 20.) Thus *Gregory* and *Nixon* are irrelevant to the analysis here.

Second, even if *Gregory* and *Nixon* were relevant, historically, "railroads are instrumentalities of interstate commerce over which [the federal government's authority to regulate even purely intrastate matters under the Commerce Clause has not been and cannot be doubted." (Slip Op. at p. 34 [alteration omitted], quoting CSX Transportation, Inc. v. Georgia Public Serv. Com. (N.D. Ga. 1996) 944 F. Supp. 1573, 1586 and citing City of Auburn v. United States (9th Cir. 1998) 154 F.3d 1025, 1031]; see id. at p. 16, quoting Scheiding v. General Motors Corp. (2000) 22 Cal.4th 471, 481 ["Railroads have been subject to comprehensive federal regulation for nearly a century. . . . There is no comparable history of longstanding state regulation . . . of the railroad industry."].) Accordingly, a finding that the ICCTA preempts CEQA review of rail construction and operation (particularly by a private rail operator) does not alter the usual constitutional balance between the states and the federal government. (See Slip Op. at p. 34, quoting New York v. United States (1992) 505 U.S. 144, 155–156 ["If Congress has authority under the Commerce Clause to act, that action does not invade 'the province of state sovereignty reserved by the Tenth Amendment."].)

This conclusion is consistent with *California v. Taylor* (1957) 353 U.S. 553, a case involving a state-owned railroad and the Railway Labor

Act. There, California argued the Railway Labor Act did not contain a sufficient expression of preemption to restrict California's sovereignty. (*Id.* at p. 563.) The Supreme Court disagreed, holding that even though California could engage in interstate commerce by being a common carrier of a railroad, the state must do so within the limitations of Congress' power to regulate interstate commerce by rail. (*Id.* at pp. 562, 568.) This power does not "interfere with the 'sovereign right' of the State." (*Id.* at p. 568.)

Third, the Opinion finds "unmistakably clear" language of Congress' intent to preempt state regulation of rail construction and operations. The Opinion looks carefully at the ICCTA's preemption clause and concludes it "expressly preempts all state laws that may reasonably be said to have the effect of managing or governing rail transportation," including CEQA. (Slip Op. at p. 34 [internal quotation marks omitted]; see *id.* at pp. 16–20 [analyzing the ICCTA's "broadly worded express preemption provision" and cases interpreting that provision to find the ICCTA "expressly preempts CEQA review of proposed railroad operations"].) Express preemption is as clear an indication of Congress' intent as one can find in a statute. (*South-Central Timber Dev.*, *supra*, 467 U.S. 82, 91 [equating a finding that preemption is "expressly stated" to a finding of "unmistakably clear" intent].)

Therefore, the Opinion does not conflict with *Gregory* or *Nixon*.

IV.

CONCLUSION

Because the Opinion can be harmonized with *Atherton*, does not conflict with *Gregory* and *Nixon*, and has holdings confined to its facts that do not raise an important, wide-ranging issues of State law, the Opinion does not meet the requirements for Supreme Court review. Accordingly, Appellants' Petition should be denied.